

Greek Catholic Church Complex in Radruż, Branch of the Kresy Museum in Lubaczów
The borderlands of contemporary Poland, just off the Polish-Ukrainian border, hide an unusual monument in the form of the Greek Catholic Church Complex in Radruż, with its main building – the former Greek Catholic Church of St. Paraskeva. Every year, the monument attracts tens of thousands of people. The tourists come from Poland and from many other parts of the world. They are attracted by the unique charm and unusual history of the wooden church which was founded over 400 years ago and remembers the times of the great multinational Polish Commonwealth. The unique value of the monument was appreciated when it was put on the UNESCO World Heritage List (2013) and on the national list of Historical Monuments (2017).

The unique quality of the Radruż church lies primarily in when it was founded. The temple was built at the end of the 16th century and has survived without any major changes to our times. Currently, it is one of the oldest monuments of wooden Greek Catholic church architecture in Poland, and the whole of Central and Eastern Europe.

The church was not the first temple in the history of the village, which dates back to the Middle Ages. Radruż appears in written sources as a fully developed settlement as early as 1444. An independent Eastern Orthodox parish might have been formed in the village at the turn of the 15th and 16th centuries – during the influx of Vlach and Ruthenian settlers. Tax records from 1531 say that the village had already had a church at that time. It is unknown whether it was an immediate predecessor of the currently existing temple or of one of the few previous buildings. The scarce archival records do nothing to help solve the problem.

However, over the 16th century, the village and the associated parish gradually grew in importance. Radruż was located within the boundaries of the Lubaczów starostwo (administrative unit) and a survey from the mid-16th century describes it as "a very big and spacious area (sic!)". At that time, the village had about half a thousand inhabitants and it was classified as a large settlement in terms of its population.

Apart from the intensified settlement and economic processes, the location of the village at the intersection of important communications and trade routes had a considerable impact on the economic development of Radruż as well. On the one hand, there was the Belz route connecting Pobuże with Nadsanie (north-south axis), and on the other – the Lviv route running from the Ruthenian lands to the central part of the country (east-west axis). Both routes crossed exactly by the church, which increased the temple’s importance in the economic and strategic context and had an impact on its military function.

The church and the accompanying belfry were built on a spacious, oval hill (gently falling down into the valley of a local stream) for a reason. This location was clearly decided on for defense reasons. From the very beginning, the Radruż religious complex served as a small, rural stronghold, which would protect important trade routes and give shelter to the nearby residents who would find themselves in danger.

The church complex in Radruż is therefore a true work of its time. It was built during the economic prosperity of the village at the end of the 16th century and, apart from its basic religious purpose, it served a crucial economic, social, and military role. In this context, the issue of the foundation of this religious complex remains an important one. It is believed that construction was initiated by Jan Płaza, Starost of Lubaczów, who was closely associated with Jan Zamoyski, Grand Chancellor and Grand Hetman of the Crown, and with the court of King Stephen Báthory. In 1583, Starost Płaza even issued a special document, which some researchers recognized as a memorandum of foundation of the church, while others – as a charter for the local Ruthenian parish. Unfortunately, the parchment was lost and currently its content is unknown, apart from some vague accounts of witnesses.

The role of the villagers themselves, especially the wealthier ones, might have been important in the process of founding the church as well. The Dubniewicz family may have been one of the biggest contributors here. From the end of the 16th century, their representatives held the office of Head of the Radruż commune for almost a hundred years, and went down in the history of the village, the local parish, and the church.

The founder of the religious complex must have been a significant figure who could afford to erect wooden buildings of such a large, almost monumental, scale. Both the church and the accompanying belfry are among the largest constructions when it comes to wooden church architecture in Poland. The church has a length of almost twenty three meters, with the nave having a span of over eight meters and a height of fifteen meters. The belfry, on the other hand, is five meters at the base and rises up to almost sixteen meters.

In addition, the huge scale of both buildings and the high quality of the structure testify to the high technical level of the contractors who undertook the realization of these investments. It is assumed that the church and belfry are the work of a professional carpentry workshop strongly embedded in the tradition of late Gothic carpentry. The carpentry craftsmen also left their signature inside the temple in the form of three rosettes intricately drawn with a compass and cut with a chisel. They were put on the beam crowning the passage to the nave, i.e. a highly exposed place. Everyone entering the church must go under these signs which to this day testify to the knowledge and skills of the old temple builders.

The high quality of workmanship can be seen in the log structure where selected fir and oak wood was used. The walls are made of horizontal logs chopped with an ax. The foundation, i.e. the first and most important part of the wooden building, was additionally reinforced with two massive beams applied from the top. In this way, the builders got a solid foundation for the enormous weight of walls and roofs. For the same purpose, for a proper distribution of pressure, the walls of the temple were slightly bended inwards. This procedure required exceptional precision from the carpenter.

Heavy ceilings were also shaped using the log structure, including a four-sided dome over the nave, the so-called "Peak". A characteristic element of this archaic type in the form of a crown is an offset with a vertical wall which the proper pyramidal form of covering is based on. In order to protect this type of dome against strong winds and to partially distribute its weight over the walls, a two-level system of horizontal beams reinforcing the structure was installed inside. From the outside, the beams are wedged with vertical brackets, the so-called "hooks". These relatively small elements are profiled decoratively, which means that, apart from their structural qualities, they serve an important decorative role.

Two oak entrance portals located in the walls on the west and south are also extremely significant when it comes to the structural and decorative functions. Their individual elements reach a record width of almost eighty centimeters, which is a reference to monumental stone structures. Lintels, i.e. horizontal beams closing the portals from above, are decorated with carefully cut trifoliate arches. Those details are also connected with the late Gothic style which was still popular in the modern rural environment.

Unlike the church, the accompanying belfry has a post-and-beam structure, most suitable for erecting tall towers and distributing the vibrations caused by bells. It is made of nine monumental posts, one of which, the so-called "King", is located in the middle of the structure. The foundation under the bulk of the walls is equipped with an additional external frame which stabilizes the whole building, and is the basis for a spacious roof, the so-called "apron", going around the structure. Despite the differences in the type of structure, the selected material shows workshop similarities with the church. The mass of the tower has a protruding floor (the so-called chamber with small, semi-circular bell holes), typical for defensive structures. The whole construction is crowned with a hipped roof with late Gothic features, which makes the whole building slender.

Construction skills provided the basis for a stylistically uniform complex of two main buildings with a specific spatial layout, most suited to their function. The church is adapted to the Eastern liturgical rite. It has a triple-longitudinal plan characteristic of the Eastern Rite temples. It consists of a central, almost square, nave with large dimensions. The outermost rooms, arranged on a longitudinal axis (the so-called "matroneum" from the west and the altar part, or "sanctuary", from the east), are much smaller.

At the same time, the individual rooms are independent. They are inter-connected via clearances of precisely defined architectural form. Thanks to the extension of the upper and lower logs, the passage between the nave and the matroneum is the Radruż church’s substitute of the matroneums used in the old Greek Catholic architecture. On the other hand, between the nave and the sanctuary, there is a full iconostasis wall with three low liturgical openings: Royal Doors in the middle and two pairs of Deacons’ Doors on the sides. Slightly above, there is a large hole with a circular frame. There is an analogous hole in the opposite wall, above the clearance between the nave and the matroneum. It is not entirely clear what these circular clearances were for. It is possible that in the first period of the church’s operations, the holes were intended to improve the acoustic conditions of the interior.

The outer body of the temple is dominated by a nave with a four-sided dome, with subordinate lateral, lower rooms topped with gable roofs. The resulting silhouette of the church with the rhythm of profiled fastenings under the cornices is very austere, almost resembling a defensive structure.

The monumental, almost cuboid, body of the temple, is enriched by the so-called soboty (low arcades) surrounding the building and embedding it firmly on the ground. They are spacious roofs supported on posts, and in the corners – on protruding beams of log walls, the so-called Rysie. According to tradition, soboty served as a shelter for the faithful who would come to the Sunday liturgy the day before. In addition to their utility function, the roofs protected the wooden walls against rainfall.

The entire surface of the walls and roofs is tightly covered with wooden shingles, which gives the building an additional artistic effect enforced by relatively small details made of wrought iron, or decorative hinges on the door, especially in the southern portal, and the blacksmith's cross crowning the dome over the nave. This last detail is full of finesse and delicacy, so different from the monumental effect of the rest of the building. It is made up of small crosses set on two main arms. Its form refers to the so-called "Jerusalem crosses" and, according to tradition, it means that the inhabitants had the opportunity to go on a pilgrimage to the Holy Land. Thanks to the gilded shields shimmering in the sun, the cross is visible from a long distance.

The unique architectural design of the temple is connected with its architectural qualities. The wall polychrome is the oldest element – according to the preserved date, it was made before 1648. It covers the eastern wall of the nave where, together with panel icons, it co-created the original iconostasis in the 1st century of the church's existence. It was an interesting combination of depictions painted on walls and panel icons.

Polychrome, just like film frames, explores the themes of the Old and New Testaments in a row system divided into quarters. On the slope of the dome, there is a large depiction of the face of Christ on a veil held by angels (Mandylion). Below, on the iconostasis wall, there are quarters with biblical scenes, followed by a row of images of Old Testament Prophets and Patriarchs; both rows of paintings are separated from each other with a floral ornament. In brief, the iconographic program of the polychrome revolves around the announcements of the Incarnation, Sacrifice, and Redemption of Christ.

This earliest phase of the iconostasis' development left an original memento in the form of wooden slats attached at the bottom of the walls, decorated with painted floral ornaments with Renaissance features. The slats, which act as shelves, hold icons painted on boards. These depictions, the oldest of which shows St. Nicholas and is dated at the turn of the 14th and 15th centuries, as well as several others from the 15th and 16th centuries, were transferred to Lviv in the 1930s and are now in the A. Szeptycki National Museum.

There is also a polychrome from the 1st half of the 17th century on the wall of the sanctuary. It is a unique epitaph of the unknown 'young man called Michał' (perhaps from the Dubniewicz family). The architectural frame shows the patron of the deceased – St. Michael the Archangel, and the Three Holy Hierarchs of Eastern Christianity: St. Basil the Great, Saint John Chrysostom, and St. Gregory the Theologian.
The construction of the iconostasis began in the late 1640s. It partly obscured the earlier polychromes. The wall filled with five rows of icons in woodcarving frames was shaped over almost a hundred years, until the mid-18th century. Although the iconostasis was created over such a long period of time and by several painters, it is a stylistically homogeneous work.
Zachariasz Tarnohorski, a painter from the town of Niemirów located near Radruż, made the openwork Royal Doors in the middle of the iconostasis as early as in 1647. To the right of them, there is an icon of the church’s patronal saint – St. Paraskeva – from the 1st half of the 17th century. In 1699, Andrzej Doskocz, a resident of Radruż, created the monumental "Trimorphon", or a depiction of Christ on the throne surrounded by the Mother of God and St. John the Baptist. The last phase of development took place in the mid-18th century. In 1742, the group of iconostasis painters gained one more artist, Ioan "a citizen of Hrebenne", i.e. an artist from the nearby village of Hrebenne, who made representations of the 12 apostles. More than ten years later, the painter Andrej Wyszecki from nearby Jaworów, who left his signature on one of the icons, began his final work on the iconostasis. The artist created over 20 paintings, including icons of the feast of Pentecost, Prophets, and both wings of the Deacons’ Doors with St. Michael the Archangel and Melchizedek. Apart from his work on the iconostasis, Andrej was also the author of both side altars: the southern altar of St. Nicholas and the northern altar of the Dormition of the Theotokos. The altars complemented the general interior of the nave, creating an important element of the temple's liturgical equipment, next to the iconostasis.

The icons are complemented by other valuable elements of the interior, such as a seventeenth-century wooden collector's bench owned by Prince Józef Karol Lubomirski, Grand Marshal of the Crown and Starost of Lubaczów. The Tomb of God is another rare object. It was created through the efforts of Fr. Bazyli Sierociński, the Radruż parish priest, in 1839. It holds an appropriate foundation inscription and painted depictions of "The Taking of Christ" and "Resurrection" made by Andrzej Berezicki. In the 19th century, the nave gained a choir of singers, benches, and a pulpit with woodcarving and painting decorations.

The interior of the Church of St. Paraskeva in Radruż is one of the richest and most valuable ones in Poland, and in today’s Polish-Ukrainian borderland as a whole.

The church and its belfry are the most important and oldest elements of the Radruż religious complex. Over the long period of its operation, the complex has gained more interesting elements, such as the former church cemetery that stretches around the temple. Currently, there are several stone gravestones in it. The oldest one is the unique tombstone of Katarzyna Dubniewiczowa, who died in 1682, the young wife of the local Wójt Eliasz. At the southern facade of the church, there are also two archaic crosses, one of which might date from the turn of the 17th and 18th centuries, and the other commemorates an unknown person who died in 1729. On the northern side of the church, there is a tomb of the Andruszewski family of the Mogiła coat of arms. They were owners of the local court estate, who were church collectors at the end of the 19th century, and even though they were Roman Catholics, they chose the Greek Catholic church as a place of eternal rest for several generations of their family.

The whole sacred space is surrounded by a stone wall with two gates. In the first half of the 19th century, it replaced the previous wooden fence. A little later, a stone morgue was built at the eastern gate, which was the perfect visual complement to the entire complex, especially from the south and east. In the 1920s, the church complex gained some more stone constructions (from the west): a shop and a village club room.

Therefore, local limestone became an important element of the church complex, next to the wood which was used to build the temple and the belfry. The same material was used for gravestones in the two cemeteries accompanying the church. They contain a total of over half a thousand stone works, created in the local stonemason's center, focused mainly in the village of Brusno Stare near Radruż. Both cemeteries form a peculiar museum of funerary art in the open air. The oldest crosses come from the early 19th century, the newest ones – from the beginning of the 20th century.

Over the several hundred years of its history, the church has repeatedly been at risk of destruction. The defensive qualities of the temple were tested especially in its first century. This is the period the half-historical half-legendary story of the Tatar captive woman (Maria Dubniewicz) comes from.

The story is associated with the year 1672, when the last Tatar invasion of the village and surrounding areas took place. When one of the Tatar raids was launched against Radruż in the fall of that year, local peasants took refuge in the church. The invaders were unsuccessful in their attempts to conquer the pontificated temple. After further failures, they demanded a ransom in exchange for abandoning the siege. However, they did not want gold or any precious objects. They demanded the local Wójt’s wife, famous for her extraordinary beauty, to be released. And that is what happened. The woman in question, Maria Dubniewicz, wanted to save her family and fellow inhabitants, and save the temple from destruction, so she gave herself up to the Tatars voluntarily. The Polish army, which defeated the Tatars in the fields between Radruż and nearby Niemirów under the command of Jan Sobieski, then Grand Hetman of the Crown, and later Polish King, were unable to free her. The beautiful captive soon found herself in Kamieniec Podolski, occupied by the Turks, and then found her way to the capital of the Ottoman Empire – Constantinople, where she was sold at a local slave market. Fortunately, she became an object of affection and a wife of a Turkish dignitary at the Sultan's court.

After her husband’s death, Maria was left with a considerable fortune and decided to return to Radruż. In 1699, after exactly 27 years, she came to her village with the treasure hidden in a cart's shaft. She then spent significant sums on the renovation of the declining church, and she might have also funded the tombstone of Katarzyna Dubniewicz, her successor, by her uncle Eliasz’s side. His father, Bazyli Dubniewicz, was buried by the church as well, which is evidenced by the epitaph inscription cut out on the southern portal. The Dubniewicz family, which is part of the history of the Radruż church, resides in the vicinity of Lubaczów and Lviv to this day.

The Tartar invasion of 1672 left a mark in local tradition. The church was lucky to survive this difficult period and it did not meet another such strong threat until the 20th century, during World War I, and especially World War II. The resettlement of the Ukrainian population and the designation of a new inter-state border after 1944 left the church empty. Thanks to the local community, the temple survived, but lost its liturgical functions. However, the state authorities appreciated its value for cultural heritage. In the years 1964-1966, the entire church complex underwent an extensive renovation. Thanks to the work done at that time, the priceless monument has survived to our times.

Currently, the Greek Catholic Church Complex in Radruż serves as a museum and is under the supervision of the Kresy Museum in Lubaczów. Thanks to the efforts of this institution, the complex has undergone necessary conservation and protection works, which made it possible for the elements of interior design, including the iconostasis, to return to the church after more than half a century. The building of a former storeroom accompanying the church complex has been substantially renovated as well. It was adapted into a museum and tourist service center.

The church complex facilities is the site of many cultural activities. It houses regular chamber music concerts, exhibitions, and open-air events that are a reference to historical events based on the stories of the Tartars’ captive woman and the temple’s survival during the Tartar invasions.

The Kresy Museum in Lubaczów cooperates with the Marshal of the Podkarpackie Voivodeship, the Podkarpackie Voivodeship Conservator of Monuments, the authorities of Lubaczów County and Horyniec-Zdrój Commune in making efforts to maintain the Greek Catholic Church Complex in Radruż and improve its cultural offer.
